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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Marine Corps Recruit Depot Eastern Recruiting Region (MCRD ERR) Parris Island
consists of approximately 6,707.955 acres in Beaufort County, South Carolina. Modern
military use of Parris Island began with the construction of the U.S. Naval Station, Port Royal
in the 1890s. The Marine Corps established a training base on the island in 1909 on a
temporary basis and permanently in 1915. The installation increased in size nearly a hundred
fold during the World War I expansion of the base to include the entire island. The Marine
Corps’ main mission for the base has been recruit training, but it also included artillery
training in the late 1930s and an air station in the 1940s. Ordnance and explosive (OE) and
chemical warfare material (CWM) related features of the base included assorted small arms
ranges, rocket, grenade and mortar use, coastal defense gun emplacements, aerial bombing
targets, artillery impact areas, gas chambers, various ordnance storage areas, maneuver areas,
and training stations and courses.

The Archives Search Report identified 29 ranges associated with Parris Island, including those
currently in use, historic ones and three of questionable existence. The following pages
contains a table of the identified ranges on Parris Island. The ASR identified a number of
other historic ranges beyond the installation boundary, which are Formerly Used Defense Sites
(FUDS) and further investigation is the responsibility of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.
The ASR companion volume Range Identification and Preliminary Range Assessment, contains
further range information in a format consistent with the DoD proposed range rule, Closed,
Transferred, and Transferring Ranges Containing Military Munitions.

Ranges Identified

Time Frame of Use

Current Range Status

(Approximate)
Khe Sanh/Range A 1918 to present (1999) Range remains in use.
Hue City/Range B 1918 to present (1999) Range remains in use.
Chosin/Range C 1942 to present (1999) Range remains in use.
Starlight/Range D 1942 to present (1999); Range remains in use.
earlier range use suspected.
Inchon/Range E 1944 to present (1999); Range remains in use.

earlier range use suspected.

Pusan Range, Nak Tong
Range and Recreational
Firing Range (Broad River
Small Arms Ranges)

1918 to early 1940s, single
range; early 1940s to present
(1999), as multi-small arms
range complex

Range remains in use.

Rocket and Mortar Impact
Area

1930s? to early 1960s?

Range remains as part of Khe
Sanh/Range A’s safety fan.
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Indoor Small Bore Range
(Building 765)

early 1950s to present (1999)

Range remains in use.

Miscellaneous Training
Stations, Courses and
Maneuver Areas

maneuver ranges: 1918 to
present; Page Field stations
and courses: mid-1980s to
present

Range remains in use.

Guadalcanal Hand Grenade 1974 to present (1999) Range remains in use.
Range
Mine and Booby Trap and early 1980s to present (1999) | Range remains in use.

Practice Grenade and Mine
Field Range

Practice Grenade Range

late 1980s to present (1999)

Range remains in use.

Combat Assault Course

1987 to present (1999)

Range remains in use.

Gas Chamber (Bldg. 793)

early 1980s to present (1999)

Range remains in use.

Aerial Bombing Target at
Page Field

mid-1930s to 1942

Range part of Page Field
training stations, courses and
maneuver area.

Strafing Range at Page Field

late 1930s

Range part of Page Field
training stations, courses and
maneuver area.

Aerial Bombing Target at
Golf Course

1942 to 1946

Redeveloped as a golf course.

Trap and Skeet Ranges at
Page Field

early 1940s to early 1950s

Buildings razed; range area
remains undeveloped.

Recreational Firing Range at
Horse Island

mid-1980s to present (1999)

Range remains in use.

Aerial Bombing Target at mid-1930s to early 1940s Redeveloped as parade deck.

Parade Deck

Rifle Range at Ballast Creek | 1916 to 1918 (portions may Redeveloped, currently
have remained in use through | includes dredge spoil and
late 1930s) buildings.

Field Artillery West Main 1937 to 1940 Portions redeveloped for a

Range variety of uses, including

Argonne Housing Area; other
portions remain undeveloped.

Field Artillery East Shrapnel
Range

1937 to 1940

Generally remains
undeveloped, except for
Gibb’s Island (i.e.
Guadalcanal Hand Grenade
Range).

Gas Chamber (Bldg. 685)

1945 to early 1950s

Building and vicinity remain
in use as Close Combat
Instructional area.

Aerial Bombing Target at

early 1940s to 1946

Range remains undeveloped.
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Southern Tidal Flats

Gas Chamber at Elliott’s
Beach

mid-1950s to early 1980s

Building razed.

Grenade Range Near Old
Swimming Pool at Weapons
and Field Training Battalion
Area

early 1940s?, existence of
range suspect

Suspect range in housing area
of Weapons and Field
Training Battalion Area.

Fuse Range at Elliott’s Beach

19917, existence of range
highly suspect

Suspect range in undeveloped
area near Elliott’s Beach.

Hand Grenade Range near
Elliott’s Beach

19917, existence of range
highly suspect

Suspect range in undeveloped
area near Elliott’s Beach.
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3.0 SITE DESCRIPTION
3.1 LAND USE
3.1.1 Location

MCRD ERR Parris Island consists of approximately 6,707.955 acres in Beaufort County,
South Carolina (see Plate #1). Parris Island lies at the entrance to Port Royal Sound,
approximately six miles south of Beaufort, South Carolina.

3.1.2 Prior Site Use

Prior to the Navy and Marine Corps operation of MCRD ERR Parris Island, predominate use
of the dry land was for private residences and agricultural purposes. The wetlands remained
undeveloped.

3.1.3 Present Site Use

As implied by its name, the MCRD ERR Parris Island is the Marine Corps eastern training
base for their recruits.

3.2 OTHER SITE DATA

Previous reports and investigations prepared for this installation included comprehensive
information on the climate, geology, soils, hydrology, ecology, demographics and archaeology
for the Twentynine Palms area. To avoid duplication of this work and economize efforts, this
report does not include information concerning these topics. If required, consult the holdings
at MCRD ERR Parris Island’s Natural Resources and Environmental Affairs (NREA) office.

Section 3 - Site Description
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4.0 SITE HISTORY
4.1  HISTORICAL SITE SUMMARY
4.1.1 General Site History

The Marine Corps Recruit Depot Eastern Recruiting Region Parris Island, South
Carolina is the oldest, major Marine Corps facility in the United States. Prior to its
establishment in 1915, Parris Island had a military past that spanned over 400 years and
included fortifications constructed by the Spanish, French and U.S. Navy.?

The military history of Parris Island begins when the French Captain Jean Ribaut brought an
expedition to the area in 1562, and named the sound Port Royal. Ribaut left behind a small
outpost named Charlesfort, generally accepted as being located on the southern end of Parris
Island. The post was abandoned early the following year. By 1566, the Spanish controlled the
area and they constructed Fort San Felipe in the vicinity of the original French fortifications.
Following its destruction in 1576, the Spanish established a new fort, Fort San Marcos, also
in the vicinity between 1577 and 1586. This fort was abandoned in 1587 and by the 1600s, the
English controlled Carolina. The later 18" century fortifications in the greater Beaufort and
Port Royal Sound area, such as the 1731 Fort Frederick, were not established on Parris Island.

In 1860, South Carolina succeeded from the Union, and Confederate forces established
fortifications on both Hilton Head and Bay Point at the entrance to Port Royal Sound. These
fortifications fell to the Union in November 1861, which than controlled the entire area.
Although, occupied by Union forces afterwards, the only military use of the Parris Island
during the Civil War appears to been as a coaling station. The fortification on either side of
the entrance to the Sound remained in the military’s hands.’

Proposals to establish a permanent Naval depot in the Beaufort/Port Royal area occurred as
early as 1856, though it wasn’t until 1882 that Congress appropriated funds for a naval coaling
station, storehouse and wharf. The Navy purchased approximately 41 acres of land in 1883 on
the northeast side of Parris Island and construction began on the naval station. Subsequent
appropriations in 1890 expanded the scope of the installation to include a dry dock. On 26

? Unless otherwise noted, section 4.1.1 relies on Eugene Alvarez’s unpublished manuscript Parris Island: “The
Cradle of the Corps.” A History of the United States Marines Corps Recruit Depot, Parris Island, South
Carolina, 1562-1998. This manuscript was originally researched and written for the History and Museums
Division, Headquarters, U.S. Marines Corps and is similar to other histories published by the USMC. This
investigation located additional primary source documentation that confirmed much of the material in that
manuscript, plus others that augmented or contested it. When disparities arose, this investigation relied on the
primary sources.

3 See Section 5.2 Potential DOD Ownership for a more complete discussion of these properties: Hilton Head
Military Reservation and Bay Point Military Reservation.

Section 4 - Site History
Page 4 - 1
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June 1891, the facility was officially designated as the United States Naval Station, Port
Royal, South Carolina and the first Marine Corps detachment at Parris Island was established
at that time.

In 1898, the Spanish American War broke out. The coastal defenses of Port Royal Sound included
Hilton Head Military Reservation, Bay Point Military Reservation and the unfinished Fort
Freemont, where modern breech loading weapons were yet to be emplaced. As such, additional
temporary fortifications were established on Parris Island.

At the turn of the century, the size of ships needing to dry dock increased. Instead of enlarging the
Parris Island facility, in 1901 the Navy recommended and Congress authorized establishing a new
naval station on the Cooper River at Charleston, South Carolina (Bureau of Yards and Docks,
1901). This new shipyard eventually rendered the Parris Island facilities obsolete and by 1904 the
only personnel at the base were the Marine guards protecting government property (Coletta 1985).
Taking advantage of the available assets, the Commandant of the Marine Corps established the
Marine Officers' School, U. S. Naval Station, Port Royal, which opened on 1 January 1909.
The following year, a temporary recruit training facility was also opened at Parris Island but both
facilities were deactivated in 1911. On 28 August 1911, the installation was redesigned the U. S.
Naval Disciplinary Barracks, Port Royal.

The post finally received a permanent tenant on 25 October 1915 when the Marine Barracks,
Port Royal, South Carolina, was established and the Navy officially turned the station over to
the Marine Corps. Care of the Naval Disciplinary Barracks was also turned over to the
Marines at that time.

The United States entrance into World War I created a need for a much larger Marine Corps
and accordingly additional recruit training facilities. As such, the installation expanded to
include all of Parris Island, which represented an increase in land size from the naval station of
nearly 100 times (see section 5.1 Real Estate). The increased size allowed for additional
training and maneuver areas including: a New Rifle Range on the west side of the island; a
Maneuver Grounds, at the southern end; a Quarantine or Receiving Station, at the location of
the current Marsh’s Landing; and the contemporary Rifle Range became a flying field with
seaplane access (see Appendix G-4 & 6). The name of the post was also changed to Marine
Barracks, Paris Island, South Carolina, on 22 June 1917. The more familiar spelling with
two "r"s was mandated the following December. By the end of the war, Parris Island trained
over 41,000 recruits for the conflict in Europe.

The 1920s-1930s saw a continuation of the recruit training mission at Parris Island though
other schools such as a Noncommissioned Officers school, rifle coaches school and Sea-Going
Depot also existed. The active use of the original flying field didn’t last long, as it was closed
on 15 November 1921 and abandoned on 21 September 1922 (Coletta 1985). Although
budgets were tight, especially during the depths of the depression improvements to the base
facilities at the time included much needed bridge and road access and fresh water supplies.
The 1930s also saw the reestablishment of aviation facilities at Parris Island with construction
of lighter than air mooring masts and a new airfield on south end of the island. This larger

Section 4 - Site History
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airfield became operational and was officially designated Page Field in 1935. Two years
earlier, the Parris Island naval disciplinary barracks closed and the remaining prisoners were
removed. By 1938, the three missions of the Marine Barracks at Parris Island were: to equip
and train fighting recruits, provide training areas for aviation squadrons and provide training
areas for antiaircraft and pack howitzer artillery units (Headquarters USMC 1938). Although
artillery firing on Parris Island occurred as early as 1921, this mission expanded in 1937 with
the establishment of two ranges on post and the acquisition of the offsite Hilton Head
Lighthouse Reservation. The Defense Battalions formed at Parris Island (i.e. 39, 4®, 5®, 9*®
and 11") primarily trained at the Hilton Head location dubbed, Camp McDougal. On 15
December 1941, the Air Detachment Page Field officially became Marine Corps Air Station
Parris Island, South Carolina and was further developed (Heinl 1940; MCAS Parris Island
1945).

The United States entrance into World War II required a massive buildup of basic trainees.
During 1942, 13 recruit battalions were operational at Parris Island, including a Women's
Reserve Battalion activated on 14 January 1944. A depot Drill Instructor School was also
operational as early as December 1944, or January 1945. The post reached a record of 18,398
recruits on the base at one time in 1945. During the entire wartime period, the depot trained
240,509 recruits.

Following the war, two of Parris Island earlier missions were withdrawn. The establishment
of Camps Pendleton and Lejeune and an expanded Quantico provided superior facilities for
artillery and antiaircraft training. On 1 July 1946, Page Field was placed in caretaker status,
as its runways were not long enough for newer aircraft. By March 1947, the remainder of the
squadron was transferred to Cherry Point.

Parris Island’s primary mission remained recruit training, as is reflected in its redesignation on
1 December 1946, as the Marine Corps Recruit Depot (MCRD) Parris Island, South
Carolina. The post war period also saw the integration of women on a permanent basis into
the Marine Corps in 1948, with a recruit battalion being formed at Parris Island. In September
1949, the training of African-American recruits began at Parris Island with the closing of the
segregated Montford Point facility at Camp Lejeune. The Parris Island Naval Hospital also
closed on 31 August 1949, following the completion of a new Naval Hospital in Beaufort.

In June 1950, the United States entered the Korean War. The wartime expansion swelled the
number of recruits at Parris Island to a one time high of 21,540 in 1952, surpassing World
War II figures. 1952 also saw the establishment of a permanent Marine Corps Drill Instructor
School at Parris Island. Tragedy struck the depot on 8 April 1956, when six recruits drowned
in a training accident in Ribbon Creek. Reforms in training and instruction followed the
infamous incident.

During the Vietnam War, Parris Island once again geared up to train additional troops needed
for the conflict. Following that war, the length of the recruit training increased to 12 weeks
and in 1974, an Individual Combat Training Course for recruit training was activated at Page
Field.

Section 4 - Site History
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On 1 April 1983, the base was "officially" redesigned Marine Corps Recruit Depot Eastern
Recruiting Region Parris Island, South Carolina, reflecting a 1976 change that placed all the
recruiting districts directly under the command of the commanding officer of the recruit depot.
In 1988, a Basic Warrior's Course was added and the Crucible Course was first run in
December 1996. Training of basic recruits continues to the present as the primary mission of
Parris Island, though the length and content of the curriculum has changed over time.

4.1.2 Summary of Ordnance and Explosives Activities

The MCRD ERR Parris Island has a long and varied history of ordnance usage. Besides the small
arms qualifications, pyrotechnics, simulators, and weapons familiarization (rockets, 40mm grenades
and hand grenades) associated with the current basic training program, previous missions at Parris
Island have included the use of coastal defense cannons, artillery firing, and aviation bombing and
strafing.

This investigation found no specific evidence concerning the weapons used or emplaced at
Parris Island prior to the late 19® century. Assumably the 16" century French and Spanish
forts had cannon mounted for the protection of these works against rival European powers and
attacks against Native Americans. The soldiers of these forts would also have been armed with
small arm musketry of the period. It is likely that cannon balls and shells, musket balls and
powder to shoot these arms were stored inside the forts.

No direct evidence was located concerning ordnance use at Parris Island during the next 300
years. The surrounding islands of Hilton Head and St. Phillips had fortifications and saw
hostile action during the Civil War. No direct evidence was located that either army used
Parris Island for this purpose, though Federal forces had patrols that occupied Parris Island
during the war (Alverez 1998). The presence of ordnance related items remaining from these
uses is conceivable but no evidence was located to indicate it.

Following the construction of the Naval Station, the first Marine detachment was assigned to

guard the Parris Island facility. The specific types of weapons that accompanied this detail are

unknown. With the outbreak of the Spanish-American War in 1898, the coastal defenses of

Port Royal were not completely modernized with the Endicott period, breech-loading guns.

The three 10-inch disappearing guns and two 4.7-inch rapid fire guns for Batteries Jesup and

Fornance at Fort Freemont would not be transferred until the following year. As such, two

Civil War era, muzzle loading 8-inch rifles were placed at the Hilton Head Military

Reservation (War Department 1898, 1918). Temporary fortifications were also established on

Parris Island. Fort Haines and Fort MacKay clearly show on contemporary site plans (see

Appendix G-1). Secondary sources also indicate two additional sites: Quarantine Fort and ~—,
Station Fort were also built and the military placed muzzle loading 10-inch Rodman guns, -
sleeved to 8-inches, on the island (Alverez 1998). This investigation found no corroborating

documentation for this, nor could it determine the specific location of any gun emplacements at

Parris Island. However, one site plan for Port Royal Sound shows “projected armament” in

the Elliott’s Beach area (see Appendix G-33).

Section 4 - Site History
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Another unconfirmed possibility for the Spanish-American War time period was whether the
Beaufort or Broad Rivers were mined. Fort Fremont had a casemate and Building 16 at Parris
Island was a Magazine but no supporting documentation was found that indicated that the mining of
the rivers occurred. Following this war, Parris Island had a second “temporary storage magazine,
building XXI” though it’s specific location could not be found on the site plans (see Appendix G-2).

The specific types of ordnance associated with the Marine Officers' School and the temporary
recruit training facility operated at Parris Island between 1909 and 1911 is unknown.
Assuredly, it included small arms training but without locating any site plans for the time
period, ascertaining the location of a Rifle Range is not possible. By 1916, site plans show the
Rifle Range at Ballast Creek, with firing lines at 200, 300, 350, 400, 500 and 600 yards and a
target butt at the southern end (see Appendix G-3). Presumably this is the same small arms
range used earlier in 1910-11. No documentation was located concerning the use of grenades
or firing areas for heavier weapons such as artillery during this period, though use of these
items is conceivable. However,-the firing of artillery would have required significantly more
real estate than any sources imply the Marine Corps owned at Parris Island prior to WWI.

The World War I build up saw the expansion of the post to include the entire island allowing
for additional training areas, including a Maneuver Grounds at the southern end of the island
on the current golf course (see Appendix G-4). This appears to be the same location as the
Sea-Going Depot, where marines fired artillery in a “grassy enclosed park named in honor of
the former post commander, “Battery Pendleton”” (Alverez 1998). The location of the
battery, direction of fire and the types of weapons used are unknown. The artillery may have
included the 75Smm howitzers or 3-inch guns but since the purpose of the training was for ship
bound marines, typical naval guns of the time would also seem reasonable. The firing of
artillery on Parris Island prior to the late 1930's would have been hampered by civilians who
were allowed to remain in their homes on the southern parts of island following the seizure of
the land in 1918. A map from 1937 shows the location of some of these residences (see
Appendix G-9). Other collected but unreferenced documents also mention this issue.

The WWII expansion also allowed for the construction of a New Rifle Range on the western
edge of the island (i.e. the current Weapons and Field Training Battalion area). The new rifle
range actually consisted of three ranges: a 1,000 Yard Range, a 600 Yard Range and a Pistol
Range (see Appendix G-4 & 6). Although the ranges have been modified and upgraded over
the years, their location and use generally corresponds to the current Khe Sanh, Hue City,
Pusan and Nak Tong ranges today. The earlier Rifle Range at Ballast Creek was converted to
a flying field. The standard small arms at the time were M1903 Springfield rifle, 30 caliber
Browning machine gun and the .45 caliber pistol.

By 1919, the ordnance storage of the post expanded to include Magazine, 48, Ammunition
Storage and Building 85, Ammunition Salvage Storage, though the location of building 48
could not be ascertained from the map (see Appendix G-5). Assumably these were temporary
uses, as latter maps did not indicate an OE mission for either site. Building 85 was latter razed
to construct the current Headquarters building.
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Besides the troops stationed at the post, Naval and Marine personnel on ships in the area would
use the small arms ranges at Parris Island to qualify (USS Patoka 1923), a practice that
continues today for military in the area. By 1927, there were 61 targets at the 600 Yard
Range, 16 targets at the 1,000 Yard Range and 12 targets at the Pistol Range. The installation
felt that these ranges were suitable for machine guns but not light mortars or 37mm firing. In
1930, the increased range of the caliber .30 M1 ammunition necessitated moving the 600 yard
rifle range (see Plate 3) (MB PI 1927, 1930). By 1929, Building 20, Ammunition Storage had
been constructed at the 600 Yard Range (see Appendix G-6).

Ordnance used in training during the mid-1930s included caliber .22, .45 ball cartridges;
cartridges for VERY pistols; cartridges caliber .30, (ball, blank, dummy, tracer, and wooden
for V.B. [Viven-Bessieres] rifle grenade); hand grenades (dummy and practice); V.B. rifle
grenade (dummy and fragmentation); signals (M5, white star); flares (illuminating, parachute
type for rifle grenades) (MB PI 1935; MB PI QM 1936, 1937). The location of a hand
grenade or rifle grenade range was not highlighted on site plans of this period.

By 1937, the Marines Corps definitely conducted artillery firing at Parris Island, having set up
two impact areas on the installation: an East Shrapnel Range and a West Main Range (see
Appendix G-9 and Plate 2). Marines from Quantico traveled to Parris Island and fired 1,794
High Explosive and Shrapnel rounds from French 7Smm guns and Pack Howitzers in July
1937. In 1938, Quantico Marines returned, firing 1,828 shrapnel and HE rounds. In 1939
they returned again, though the number of rounds fired is unknown. Annual service practice
also occurred for antiaircraft battalions on Parris Island in this time frame, which required
renting private property north of the gate for searchlight positions (MB Quantico, 1* Battalion,
10™ Marines 1937, 1938; USMC HQ 1939; MB PI, 2 AA Battalion 1938).

Even with these artillery ranges, the Marine Corps at Parris Island acquired additional land to
fire weapons with a longer range than could be fired on the island. On 10 July 1937, the
Department of the Agriculture granted the Department of the Navy use of the wildlife refuge
that had been the Hilton Head Lighthouse Reservation. Subsequently, the Defense Battalions
at Parris Island established Camp McDougal on the lighthouse reservation, using caliber .30
and .50 machine guns, 3 and 5-inch guns. Additional gun emplacements for 7-inch naval guns
and the Panama mount for 155mm guns were also installed at Hilton Head, presumably at the
lighthouse area but possibly at other Formerly Used Defense Sites (FUDS) on the island (see
section 5.2). Artillery use of this site lasted at least through August 1942 when the last
Defense Battalion left the area (see Appendix G-14, Heinl, 1940; MB PI 1942). This
investigation did not find evidence of the use of the larger artillery weapons on Parris Island.

Although earlier aerial gunnery and bombing could not be documented, by 1938 aerial gunnery
and bombing has occurred at Parris Island. This investigation identified four bombing targets
on Parris Island:

Aerial Bombing Target at the Parade Deck (Swearengen 1999)
Aerial Bombing Target at Page Field (see Appendix G-15)
Aerial Bombing Target at the Golf Course (see Appendix G-21)
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Aerial Bombing Target at the Southern Tidal Flats (site inspection)

By 1941, Army units in the area are also using the southern bombing target. The bombs known
to have been used included 3 to-5 pound miniature practice bombs (i.e. AN-MKS5, AN-MK-23
& AN-MK43) and the 100-pound sand or water filled practice bombs (i.e. the Navy’s MK 15
and the Army’s M38A2). The use of aerial rockets or other type of bombs, such as HE or
fragmentation bombs, on the Parris Island targets could not be confirmed ( see Plates 4 & 5;
MB Quantico 1938; Swearengen 1999).

A Strafing Range also reportedly existed and consisted of a wooden platform at Page Field. Its
exact location could not be ascertained since it is not shown on the reviewed site plans, but it is
thought to have existed at the southeast end of the airfield (see Plate 4 and Appendix G-10).
The use of other parts of the installation for bombing and gunnery practice could not be
confirmed. The types of small arms recovered from the strafing range area included caliber .50
rounds and possibly 20mm rounds (Swearengen 1999).

By 1942, it appears that both the Parade Deck and Page Field bombing targets are no longer
used, having succumbed to the further development of the base at that time. Also during the
war, MCAS Parris Island along with Naval Air Station Beaufort acquired 5 water ranges and
another 5 off site bombing, strafing and rocketry targets (see Plate 6). These FUDS sites
(listed below, see section 5.2 for further details) provided the needed additional ranges for the

war time expansion:

Bull Point Bombing and Strafing Target on Caper’s or Pritchard’s Island
Hunting Island/Fripp Island Bomb Target/Rocket Range

Egg Island Dive Bombing Target

Edisto Island’s Bay Point Strafing Target

Impact Target on the northeastern beach of Hilton Head Island

Following the war, MCAS Parris Island had excess amounts of 2.25-inch Sub-Caliber Aerial
Rockets (SCAR), caliber .50 ball and tracer rounds, aircraft engine starters, depth markers and
AN-219 bomb fuzes. The closing of the airfield that same year appears to be the end of aerial
range use at Parris Island. Additionally, the airfield had a Trap and Skeet Ranges (AS-47 &
AS-48) to the north of the airfield’s cantonment area during this period (see Appendix G-21 &
34; MCAS PI 1945, 1946a, 1946b).

WWII expansion at Parris Island also saw improvements to the Weapons and Field Training
Battalion Area, with the addition of eight Small Bore Ranges along the Broad River upstream
from the Pistol Range. They also built two more 600 yard ranges, Range “C” and Range
“D”, and a Hand Grenade Practice Area to the east of Range “D” (i.e. current Range “E”).
Aerial imagery analysis of hand grenade practice area on Range E in 1945, indicates that there
may be three undocumented range uses of the area. There is a 350 yard wide butt with firing
lines at 100, 200 and 300 yards in line with Ranges B, C & D. Across Range D and E, there
are ground features that are approximately 300 yards wide and possibly 600 yards long, which
look like a range with a west, northwest direction of fire. Also present are two 150 foot
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diameter circles, which resemble snap-in or dry firing ranges (see ASR section 4.4.2.2). Also
by WWII, the installation is also using parts of the 1,000 Yard Range for rifle and hand
grenades (see Appendix G-13, 17 & 19). Reportedly another Hand Grenade Range existed
near the old swimming pool in the Weapons and Field Battalion Training Area, but it was
never located on site maps or confirmed by aerial photographs (Swearengen 1999).

Ammunition storage also greatly increased during the war. By 1946, the Weapons and Field
Training Battalion area has four Ready Ammunition Stores (i.e. 721-724 and 784) and one
Ammunition Storehouse (i.e. 786). A larger ordnance storage complex was built northwest of
Page Field and contained three Small Arms Magazine (A1-A3), three High Explosive
Magazine (A4-A6), a Fuze Magazine (A7), Smoke Drum Magazine (A8), two Inert Magazines
(A9-A10) and a Ready Magazine (All). By the 1980’s several of these buildings had been
razed (see Appendix G-19 , 21 & 27)

None of the reviewed site maps denoted a mortar or a rocket range. Demonstrations of the
trench mortar at Parris Island are reported to have occurred as early as the 1930s. The
standard “trench” mortars of the time were the 3-inch Stokes Infantry Mortar or the 81lmm
Stokes-Brandt Mortar, though no primary source was located to confirm this use at Parris
Island. However, by 1947 the installation was to receive 60mm HE, smoke (WP) and
illumination rounds. In 1954 instructors demonstrated the use of the 60mm mortars along with
the 3.5 inch rocket launcher. Historical imagery also shows the use of the earlier 2.36-inch
rocket . Interviews and the site inspection indicate that Rocket and Mortar Impact Area was in
the marshy area between the Broad River and Range “A”. OE debris found in this area
include 60mm and 81mm mortars, 2.36-inch and 3.5-inch rockets and rifle grenades. A
retired EOD CWO04 recalled clearing primarily practice rounds, particularly rockets from the
area. The use of the 40mm practice grenades and AT-4 anti-tank rocket is currently allowed
on Khe Sanh or Range “A”, giving credence to its earlier use for rocket and grenade training.
The impacting of mortars or rockets at other locations on base was not confirmed (Alverez
1998; MB PI ¢.1945; MCRD PI, 6th Battalion 1954; MCRD PI, W&FTB 1997; USMC HQ
1947¢c; Swearengen 1999).

Shipping records from 1947, indicate that the Parris Island was to receive 400 non-electric
blasting caps. The specific use of these items could not be determined, though assumably it
was for setting off HE charges for OE disposal or for training charges. This investigation
found no evidence of a specified demolition area or pit, but an EOD detachment existed on the
installation until the early 1970s. In lieu of a designated EOD area, dud rounds were probably
destroyed in place (USMC HQ 1947a; Swearengen 1999).

By the early 1950s, there is one indoor ranges in the Weapons and Field Training Battalion
area, a Small Bore Range in Building 765. The presence of other indoor ranges was not
confirmed by the reviewed documents. Also by this time, a Grenade Pit exists northeast of the
Hand Grenade Practice Range (see Appendix G-22 & 23).

By 1970, a new 600 Yard Range, Range “E” replaces the earlier Hand Grenade Practice Area,
Grenade Pit and other ranges noted on aerial imagery. The Small Bore Ranges along the

Section 4 - Site History
Page 4 - 8

)



ARCHIVES SEARCH REPORT
Marine Corps Recruit Depot Eastern Recruiting Region
Parris Island, SC

Broad River north of the Pistol Range have been merged, abandoned or converted to other
ranges. The Page Field Trap and Skeet Range also appears abandoned (see Appendix G-25 &
26).

The reviewed site plans did not designate any specific maneuver training areas at Parris Island.
However, the site inspection found numerous expended blank small arms cartridge cases in
many of the undeveloped areas of Parris Island. The inspection team found these expended
blanks cases south of the Weapons and Field Training Battalion Area and around Page Field.
Although not an exhaustive survey of the post, it appears to verify the use of the undeveloped
areas for maneuver training in the past. Their presence in and around Page Field is hardly
surprising given that area’s development in the 1970s and 1980s as a training area, with
specified courses. The majority of these course or stations do not involve the use of OE
beyond blank ammunition, pyrotechnics and simulators. The exceptions include: the
Guadalcanal Hand Grenade Range opened on Gibb's Island in 1974; the Practice Grenade &
Mine Field, south of East-West runway; a later Practice Grenade Range, north of the East-
West runway of Page Field; the 1990s Mine/Booby Trap area, which was earlier NBC
Movement Course (1987) and a Practice Grenade Range and Mine Field (1983); and CAC
(Combat Assault Course), which had been know as the Infiltration Course, south of the NW-
SE runway of Page Field

As of the writing of this report, there are eleven active weapon ranges at Parris Island. The
ranges are the multipurpose infantry weapon range, Khe Sanh, (i.e. Range “A”); the four
known distance ranges, Hue City, Chosin, Starlight, Inchon (i.e. Range “B”, “C”, “D” &
“E”); two pistol ranges Pusan and Nak Tong; an Indoor Range (Building 765); Guadalcanal
grenade Range on Gibb’s Island; the CAC Range; and the Recreational Firing Range on
Horse Island (MCRD PI, W&FTB 1997). Section 7.0 Range Summary contains of a brief
description of these ranges and other ranges identified in this report.

Of a minor OE note is the presence of saluting cannons on Parris Island. The type and size of
these cannons have varied over time but they all use a blank smokeless powder charge, which
fires no projectiles.

4.1.3 Summary of Chemical Warfare Material Activities

Chemical warfare training at Parris Island has primarily concerned introductory training and
equipment familiarization using irritants and the use of screening smoke. However, it has also
included the use of Chemical Agent Identification Sets (CAIS) and decontamination kits.

This investigation did not uncover any information regarding the use of chemical warfare
materials (CWM) at Parris Island prior to 1936. While it may seem probable that gas mask fit
training with irritants occurred before this, particularly during WWI, it may not have. The
United States’ chemical warfare training program was in its infancy in WWI and many of the
troops sent overseas didn’t received their gas mask training until they got there. Either way,
no evidence was located to confirm the presence or use of CWM at Parris Island in the 1910s
and 1920s.

Section 4 - Site History
Page 4 -9



ARCHIVES SEARCH REPORT
Marine Corps Recruit Depot Eastern Recruiting Region
Parris Island, SC

The first documented discussion of chemical weaponry at Parris Island occurs on 27 January

1936. It concerned the building of a miniature range for the 4.2-inch Chemical Mortar for

training mortar troops without the cost of ammunition. The miniature range used rubber bands

instead of powder rings but the discussion implies the contemporary or eventual use of these -~
items, as well as the contemporary 3-inch Stokes Infantry Mortar or the 8 1 mm Stokes-Brandt -
Mortar. The demonstration use of trench mortars is reported to have occurred at Parris Island

in the 1930s (Alverez 1998; MB PI 1936).

The next year the following items were requested added to the Allowances of Ammunition
(Except Small Arms) to begin chemical warfare training in Fiscal Year 1938:

50 Grenades, hand, irritant, (CN-DM), M6
50 Grenades, hand, tear, CN, M7

50 Grenades, hand, smoke, (HC), M8

2 Pair Gloves, impervious

300 Candles, smoke, HC, M1

4 Masks, Diaphragm

1 Cylinder, chlorine gas

500 Capsules, CN (tear gas) (MB PI 1937)

Whether this indicates the beginning of CWM training or if it began earlier or later is
undetermined. Site plans do not identify a Gas Chamber until Building 673 is shown as being
added in Fiscal Year ending on 30 June 1945. By 1952 the Quonset Hut Gas Chamber appears
to remain in the same spot but has been renumbered as Building 685. Nearby, Building 875 is
the Gas Mask Storage Building. Building 685 remains standing today in use for the Close
Combat Instruction training near the “Crucible” (see Appendix G-18 & 22). The gas chamber
moved to building EB-11 at Elliott's Beach in the mid-1950s, before moving to its current
location at building 793 near Page Field in the mid-1980s (Alvarez 1998; Naval Energy and
Environmental Support Activity 1986).

The specific types of CWM on hand during WWII are unknown. However, following the war,
the installation had 250 drums of surplus F.S. screening smoke at the airfield, which were to
be dumped at sea after being shipped to the Naval Ammunition Depot Charleston. They were
also requesting 250 tear gas hand grenades at that time (Bureau of Ordnance 1948; USMC HQ
1947b).

Sometime before the mid-1960s the installation received CAIS with war gases, and had already
discontinued their use. According to an interviewee, in the 1965-67 time frame, EOD
personnel from MCAS Beaufort destroyed about a dozen 8-inch diameter metal containers (i.e.
“pigs”) filled with glass tubes found in the a warehouse located near the gas chamber. The
CAIS were reportedly WWII vintage and based upon their description appear to be the M1
detonation gas identification set with war gases. They were destroyed at MCAS Beaufort by
burning them, the standard prescribed method at the time. They tested the area in the vicinity
of the WWII gas chamber and detected mustard gas residue, and to a lesser extent lewisite.

o

Section 4 - Site History
Page 4 - 10



ARCHIVES SEARCH REPORT
Marine Corps Recruit Depot Eastern Recruiting Region
Parris Island, SC

This was determined by using the glass tube inhaler type detection kits, where material
changed color in the presence of different chemical warfare gases. This account is supported
by events a decade late. The Army’s Technical Escort Center dispatched a team to inventory,
recap and escort a CAIS from Parris Island to MCAS Beaufort in 1975. Although the mission
concerned one “pig” or less of ID sets, it took two operations: one in August and another in
October. The specific type of CAIS was not identified on the operation reports (Swearengen
1999; USA TEU 1975a, 19750).

During the 1970's, training at Parris Island included a Nuclear, Biological and Chemical
(NBC) Warfare School. By 1981 the NBC program provided each recruit with greater
knowledge of the NBC equipment utilized by the Marine Corps. The program included
instruction on the NBC suit, decontamination kits and warning devices. Realism was
facilitated by simulated chemical attacks utilizing smoke grenades and audible NBC alarms
(Alverez 1998; MCRD Parris Island HQ 1982).

4.1.4 Certificates of Clearance

The archive search did not reveal any certificates of ordnance clearance, decontamination or
dedudding associated with MCRD ERR Parris Island. The base had EOD troops on post through
the early 1970s, which assumably responded to incidents and range clearance as required. Since
that time the EOD unit at MCAS Beaufort has provided assistance as needed. They provided this
investigation a review of their Parris Island incident reports from January 1995 to March 1999.
There were nearly 50 incidents concerning items thought to relate to past range use. About 85% of
the incidents concerned the Guadalcanal Grenade Range. The last response was on 31 October
1996. On 29 June 1997 the MCAS Beaufort EOD cleared the range. The other incidents
concerned four practice bomblets (i.e. the 3-pound MK 23) from the golf course area, a flare from
the ASP, an artillery simulator from Page Field, a .50 caliber AP round from Marsh’s Landing, and
a point detonating fuze from the golf course. Discussing the fuze with the staff, they thought it
might have belonged to a 60mm mortar but couldn’t say for sure.

4.2  REVIEW OF HISTORICAL RECORDS

Appendix A contains full references of all in text citations along with the location of the copied
document. The research team searched at the following locations for records relating to OE
and CWM activities at MCRD ERR Parris Island.. At these repositories the research team used
finding aids and records managers to assist in locating documents relevant to the research
topic. The ASR team also accumulated complementary documents reviewed on MCRD ERR
Parris Island but not specifically used. These complementary documents are stored with the
original ASR documents. Appendix H lists additional repositories and personnel contacted
which reported no pertinent information.
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4.2.1 National Archives
Eighth and Pennsylvania
Washington, D.C. 20408
POC: Rick Peuser
202-501-5671

The research team reviewed the finding aids for the applicable Record Groups and researched
the following entries:

Record Group 18 (Records of the Army Air Forces)

Entry 170 Correspondence Relating to Forts, 1917-1938
Boxes 2863, 2889

Record Group 26 (Records of the U.S. Coast Guard)

Entry 100 Boards of Survey (Real Property), 1939-1946
Boxes 24, 25, 30

Record Group 71 (Records of the Bureau of Yards and Docks)

Entry 9 Index to Letters Sent and Received, 1899-1916
Volumes 1886-1899

Entry 14 Index to General Correspondence, 1899-1916
Box 23

Record Group 72 (Records of the Bureau of Aeronautics)

Entry 19 General Correspondence, 1925-1942
Boxes 668, 979-993

Entry 62A General Correspondence
Boxes 2794-2796

Record Group 74 (Records the Bureau of Ordnance)

Entry 25 General Correspondence, 1926-1944
Box 1640

Record Group 77 (Records of the Office of the Chief of Engineers)

Entry 220 Coast Defense Fortification File, 1898-1920
Boxes 1-4
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Entry 391 Construction Completion Reports, 1917-1943
Boxes 1-2

Entry 1007 Geographic File
Boxes 31, 34, 114

Entry 1009 Harbor Defenses Geographic File, 1918-1945
Boxes 19-24, 115

Record Group 92 (Records of the Office of the Quartermaster General)

Entry 1205 Letters Sent, 1888-1889
Volume 1

Entry 1206 Letters Received Index, 1889
Volume 1

Entry 1207 Letters Received, 1884
Volume 1

Entry 1208 Letters Sent, 1889
Volume 1

Entry 1209 Index to Correspondence Records, 1890
Volume 1

Entry 1211 Record Cards for Correspondence, 1890
’ Box 1

Entry 1212 Name Card Index to Entry 1313
Box 1

Record Group 98 (Records of U.S. Army Commands)

Entry 124 Security Classified Correspondence, 1921-1939
Box 1

Entry 134 IV Corps Area Decimal Correspondence File, 1916-1939
Boxes 1-5

Record Group 127 (Records of the U.S. Marine Corps)

Entry 18 (sub-series) General Correspondence, 1913-1932
Boxes 44, 45, 49, 93-96, 110, 231-233, 268-273, 361-371
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Entry 18 (sub series) General Correspondence, 1933-1938
Boxes 24, 26, 27, 49, 56, 57, 58, 160-165, 231-233, 237-240

Record Group 153 (Records of the Office of the Judge Advocate General)

Entry 56 Reservation File, 1800-1950
Boxes 31, 411

Record Group 159 (Records of the Office of the Inspector General)

Entry 11 Annual Inspection Reports, 1912-1939
Box 14

Entry 11A Reports of Annual Inspections and Special Investigations, 1917-1920
Boxes 1-10

Entry 26 General Correspondence, 1917-1934
Boxes 400, 703, 793

Record Group 175 (Records of the Chemical Warfare Service)

Entry 2 Index Briefs, 1918- October 1942
Boxes 289, 352, 361, 362, 383

Record Group 394 (Records of U.S. Army Continental Commands, 1920-1942)

Entry 123 IV Corps Area Correspondence, 1920-1942
Boxes 204, 208

Record Group 407 (Records of the Adjutant General’s Office)

Entry 366 Special Projects Harbor Defense, 1929-1948
Boxes 2, 3, 15, 19, 20

4.2.2 National Archives at College Park
8601 Delphi’s Road
College Park, MD 20740
POC: Rich Boylan
301-713-6800

The research team reviewed the finding aids for applicable Record Groups and researched the
following entries:

Record Group 71 (Records of the Bureau of Yards and Docks)
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Entry 1001 Naval Property Case Files, 1941-1958
Boxes 1154-1177

Entry 1013 Interdepartmental Air Traffic Control Board Meeting Minutes
Boxes 1-2

Record Group 72 (Records of the Bureau of Aeronautics)

Entry Unclassified General Correspondence, 1948-1949
Boxes 358-360

Entry Unclassified General Correspondence, 1950
Box 190 ;

Entry Unclassified General Correspondence, 1952
Boxes 161-162

Entry Unclassified General Correspondence, 1953
Boxes 233-236

Entry Unclassified General Correspondence, 1954
Boxes 173-179

Entry Unclassified General Correspondence, 1955
Box 191

Entry Unclassified General Correspondence, 1956
Box 183

Entry Unclassified General Correspondence, 1957
Box 187

Entry Unclassified General Correspondence, 1958
Box 144

Entry Unclassified General Correspondence, 1959
Box 135

Entry Records Relating to Inactive Air Stations (Real Estate Files), 1943-1959
Box 13

Record Group 74 (Records of the Bureau of Ordnance)

Entry General Correspondence (Restricted), 1942
Box 425
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Entry General Correspondence (Confidential), 1942
Box 700

Entry General Correspondence (Restricted), 1943
Boxes 238, 239, 451

Qo

Entry General Correspondence (Confidential), 1943
Box 361

Entry General Correspondence (Restricted), 1944
Boxes 268, 807

Entry General Correspondence (Confidential), 1944
Box 498

Entry 1001 General Correspondence, 1907-1949
Box 58

Entry 1003A General Correspondence (Unclassified and Confidential), 1948-1959
Boxes 93, 114, 125, 200, 361, 476, 498

Entry 1025 Ordnance Status Reports, 1941-1956
Boxes 1-16

Entry 1529 Office of Administration, Construction and Procurement Subject Files,

1945
Box 1077

Entry 4444 Office of Administration, Construction and Procurement Subject Files,

1946
Box 193

Entry 5595 Office of Administration, Construction and Procurement Subject Files,
1947
Box 129
Record Group 77 (Records of the Office of the Chief of Engineers)

Entry 106B General Correspondence, 1918-1945 -
Boxes 775, 777-780 -

Entry 1011 Formerly Security Classified Subject Files, 1940-1945
Boxes 477, 685
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Record Group 127 (Records of the U.S. Marine Corps)

Entry 18B Office of the Commandant General Correspondence, 1939-1950
Boxes 183, 210-228, 230, 236-244, 249, 402, 481

Entry 37B Record of Training Exercises and Maneuvers, 1941-1950
Boxes 5-15

Record Group 291 (Records of the Federal Property Resources Service)

Entry 5 Utilization and Disposal Service Real Property Disposal Case Files, 1949-1962
Box 200

Record Group 407 (Records of the Adjutant General’s Office)

Entry Army-AG Project Decimal File, 1940-1945
Boxes 4332, 4333, 4337, 4353

Recofd Group 429 (Records of Organizations in the Executive Office of the President)

Entry 12 Real Property Surveys
Boxes 57-58

4.2.3 National Archives, Cartographic & Architectural Branch
8601 Adelphi Road
College Park, MD 20740
POC: Henry Gwazda
301-713-7040
Record Group 23 (Records of the Coast and Geodetic Survey)

Entry Danger Area Charts (bombing, gunnery), 1952-1954
Box 4

Record Group 71 (Records of the Bureau of Yards and Docks)

Entry Navy Department, Plan Files
Reels 619-624

Record Group 77 (Records of the Office of the Chief of Engineers)
Entry Fortifications Map File

Entry Miscellaneous Forts File
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Record Group 92 (Records of the Office of the Quartermaster General)
Entry Bound Volumes of Plans, 1904-1905

The research team also consulted Aerial Photographs in the National Archives-Special List 25,
dated 1990, for the Beaufort County. Using the indexes, the following imagery covers the site
and was acquired:

Record Group 145 (Records of the U.S. Agricultural and Stabilization Conservation Service)
12 Feb 51 1:20,000 CDU-2H 152-157, 204-210
22 Feb 51 1:20,000 CDU-1H 36-39

The research team also consulted the coverage overlays for the site in Record Group 373
(Records of the U.S. Defense Intelligence Agency) and found and acquired the following

imagery:
29 Apr 45 1:21,000 VV 94-99 109-114, 164-168
07 Jan 59 1:5,500 un-numbered

4.2.4 National Archives, Still Pictures Branch
8601 Adelphi Road
College Park, MD 20740
POC: Reference Desk
301-713-6795

Record Group 71 (Records of the Bureau of Yards and Docks)

Entry CA Photographs of Construction Projects, 1879-1943
Boxes 354-357, 449-457

Entry CB Photographs of Construction Projects, 1940-1943
Boxes 97, 118

Entry CP Photographs Construction and Aerial Views of Naval Public Works,
Facilities, and Utilities, 1941-1953
Boxes 54, 64, 65
Record Group 80 (General Records of the Department of the Navy)

Boxes 543, 712, 951, 1375, 1494
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4.2.5 Washington National Records Center
4205 Suitland Road
Suitland, MD 20409
POC: Leanne Townsend
301-457-7010

The research team reviewed the finding aids for the applicable Record Groups and researched
the following entries:

Accession 291-71A-7194
Box 34

Accession 291-79-0018
Box 24

4.2.6 National Personnel Records Center
Military Records
9700 Page Avenue
St. Louis, MO 63132-5100
POC: Wilson Sullivan
314-538-4085

The research team reviewed the master accession listings but found no useful information.

4.2.7 U.S. Army Center of Military History
103 Third Street
Fort McNair, D.C. 20319-5058
POC: Robert K. Wright
202-685-2714

The research team reviewed Historical Data Cards, Camp, Post and Station Files, and
Historical Summaries.

4.2.8 U.S. Army History Institute
Carlisle Barracks, PA 17013
POC: Richard Summers
717-245-3601

The research team reviewed photographs, conducted a database search in the library, reviewed
base newspaper reels, and reviewed post historical files.
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4.2.9 Naval History Center Photographic Archive
Building 44, Washington Navy Yard
Washington, D.C. 20374-5059
POC: Jack Green
202-433-2765

The research team reviewed still pictures and oversized aerial photography for the site.

4.2.10 Naval Aviation History Center
Building 157-1, Washington Navy Yard
Washington, D.C. 20374-5059
POC: Tod Baker
202-433-4355

The research team reviewed aviation histories for the site.

4.2.11 Naval History Center Library
Building 44, Washington Navy Yard
Washington, D.C. 20374-5059
POC: Reference Librarian
202-433-4132

The research team reviewed the Navy’s Annual Reports to Congress.

4.2.12 Marine Corps Historical Center and Museum
History and Museum Division-Reference Section
Building 58, Washington Navy Yard
Washington, D.C. 20374
POC: Danny Crawford
202-433-3874

The research team reviewed historical background files and unit files for defense battalions for
the site.

4.2.13 Marine Corps Historical Center and Museum
History and Museum Division-Archives Section
Building 58, Washington Navy Yard
Washington, D.C. 20374
POC: Frederick Graboske
202-433-4253

The research team reviewed map files for the site.
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4.2.14 U.S. Army Chemical-Biological Defense Command
Historical Office
Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD 21010-5423
POC: Jeff Smart
410-436-4430

The research team reviewed the Army Ordnance Magazine, the Chemical Warfare Service
Bulletin, and the 9710 Technical Escort Files, copying applicable documents.

4.2.15 Defense Technical Information Center
8725 Kingman Road, Suite 944
Ft. Belvoir, VA 22060-6218

The research team conducted a database search and reviewed applicable reports.

4.2.16 Naval Construction Battalion Center
History Office
1000 23rd Avenue
Port Hueneme, CA 93043-4301
POC: Carol Marsh
805-983-5913

The team reviewed the following reference texts:

Vertical Historical File Folders
MCRD Parris Island, SC
Port Royal Navy Yard, SC

Contract Construction Completion Reports
MCRD Parris Island, SC (2 Boxes)

U.S. Navy - Bureau of Yards and Docks
1927 Public Works of the Navy Data Book, dated July 1927.

U.S. Navy - Bureau of Yards and Docks
1938 Public Works of the Navy Data Book, dated July 1938.

U.S. Navy - Bureau of Yards and Docks
1945  Public Works of the Navy Data Book - Volume 1-Buildings July 1945 edition
(contains page revisions through 1950) (NAVDOCKS P-164).

U.S. Navy - Bureau of Yards and Docks
1947  Public Works of the Navy Data Book - Volume 2-General Information July 1947
edition NAVDOCKS P-164).
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U.S.

U.S.

U.S.

U.S.

U.S.

U.s,

Navy - Bureau of Yards and Docks
1909 Maps - Navy Yards and Naval Stations, dated May 1909

Navy - Bureau of Yards and Docks
1914 Maps - Navy Yards and Naval Stations, dated 1914.

O

Navy - Bureau of Yards and Docks
1916 Maps - Navy Yards and Naval Stations, dated 1916.

Navy - Bureau of Yards and Docks
1941 Maps - Navy Yards and Naval Stations, unpublished volume compiled in
January

Navy - Bureau of Yards and Docks
1960 Maps - Naval Shore Activities - 6th Naval District

Navy - Bureau of Yards and Docks
1960 Maps - Naval Shore Activities - Chesapeake Naval District unpublished volume
compiled in January 1960

The team reviewed the Annual Reports of Expenditures and Operations for Parris Island and
Port Royal for Fiscal Years 1913 through 1939.

Record Group 2 Naval Facilities Engineering Command

Box Aerial Photograph: Naval Shore Establishments
Box 5 Photos: Parris Island, SC
Box 14 Aerial Photograph: Naval Shore Establishments; Beginning of WWII and from

1930 to 1933

Box 22 Photos: Parris Island, SC
Box 42 Photos: Parris Island, SC

Photographs from the 1950s

Series SII6

Boxes 1-42
Series SII7

Box 1-38
Series SII8

Box 1-40
Series SII9

Box 1-7
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4.2.17 Naval Construction Battalion Center
Civil Engineering Support Office (CESQO), Building 1443
Port Hueneme, CA 93043
POC: Mona Leon-Guerro
805-982-3057

The research team reviewed the facility index cards, covering the pre-1958 material, for the
Sixth Naval District in South Carolina, specifically for references to the MCRD Parris Island
(Facility Number 610) and the Port Royal Shipyard.

The reviewed the following reels for MCRD Parris Island:
Reel 583, copied frames: 592
Reel 584, copied frames: 18, 19 (2 parts), 21, 23, 24
Reel 585, copied frames: 576, 583 (2 parts), 585

4.2.18 National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
Nautical Data Branch
1315 East-West Highway
Silver Spring, MD 20910-3282
POC: Gregory Norris
301-713-2737, ext. 124

The research team reviewed microfilm rolls of map standards for several years. They also
reviewed microfilmed backup documentation regarding danger areas established over water
areas.

4.2.19 National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
Aeronautical Chart Division
1315 East-West Highway
Silver Spring, MD 20910-3282
POC: Carl Nixon
301-713-2941

The research team reviewed sectional aeronautical charts for areas near the site. They
obtained current charts detailing danger areas.

4.2.20 National Archives-Southeast Region
1557 St. Joseph Avenue
East Point, GA 30344
POC: Gary Fulton
404-763-7477

Record Group 77 (Records of the Office of the Chief of Engineers)
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Accession 77-85-0001
Box 10

Record Group 181 (Records of Naval Districts and Shore Establishments)

Entry 7874 Log Books, 1907-1908
Log Book Port Royal

Record Group 270 (Records of the War Assets Administration)

Accession 270-51A-0001
Boxes 516, 517

Accession 270-58A-0542
Box 678

Record Group 291 (Records of the Federal Property Resources Services)

Accession 291-72A-2459
Box 8

4.2.21 Federal Records Center-Atlanta
1557 St. Joseph Avenue
East Point, GA 30344
POC: Tom Steinichen
404-763-7651

The research team reviewed the master accession listing and reviewed the standard form 135s
but found no useful accessions.

4.2.22 Headquarters, U.S. Marine Corps
Office, Deputy Chief of Staff for Installations and Logistics
Facilities & Services Division
Land Use and MILCON Branch CMC (LFL)
2 Navy Annex, Room 3110
Washington, D.C. 20380-1775
POC: Kelly Dreyer
703-695-8302

The research team reviewed real estate files, environmental reports, and base master plans.
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4.2.23 Marine Corps Recruit Depot East Recruiting Region Parris Island
Natural Resources and Environmental Affairs Office
Building 159
Parris Island, SC 29905
POC: Tim Harrington
843-525-3423

The team reviewed the Installation Restoration Program files and copied excerpts from:

Brown and Root Environmental Co.
1996 Master Work Plan, Marine Corps, Depot Parris Island, South Carolina,
U.S. EPA Identification Number SC6 170 022 762, March 1996.

Naval Energy and Environmental Support Activity, Port Hueneme, CA
1986 Initial Assessment Study of Marine Corps Recruit Depot, Parris Island, South
Carolina, September 1986.

4.2.24 Marine Corps Recruit Depot East Recruiting Region Parris Island
Weapons and Field Training Battalion
Building 771
Parris Island, SC 29905
POC: CWO03 Bob Ledyard, Chief Range Officer
843-525-2466

CWO03 Ledyard provided copies of the current Standard Operating Procedures:

MCRD Parris Island - Weapons and Field Training Battalion
1997 Standard Operating Procedures for Range Operations and Field Training, BnO
P3000. 1K, dated 14 May 1997.

Marine Corps Recruit Depot Parris Island
1996 Standard Operating Procedures for Recruit Training, DepO P1513.1D, dated 22
September 1996.

4.2.25 Marine Corps Recruit Depot East Recruiting Region Parris Island
Public Works Department
Building 400
Parris Island,, SC 29905
POC: Sharad Thakar, Civil Engineer
843-525-2604

The team reviewed the contents of the engineering drawing and map room, paying particular
attention to the drawers not associated with specific buildings. They reviewed and copied
maps from the following drawers:

Drawers 1 to 22 (specific drawer labels not recorded)
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41 to 45 (specific drawer labels not recorded)

Ammo Bunkers

Master Shore Development Plans (2)

Demolished Facilities (2)

Charts/Graphs/Old Maps -—

The team also reviewed the following reports, but did not identify any pertinent information
for this investigation not previously acquired:
1974 Master Plan Military Complex Beaufort, SC, dated June 1974,

1984 Master Plan Military Complex Beaufort, SC, dated February 1984.
1992 Master Plan Marine Recruit Depot Parris Island, SC, dated September 1992.

4.2.26 Marine Corps Recruit Depot East Recruiting Region Parris Island
Building 159
Parris Island,, SC 29905
POC: Gloria McGonnel, Plant Property Manager
843-525-2597

The team received copies of the installation's class 1 property records and a summary print out
of their Detailed Inventory of Naval Shore Facilities database, which resides at Port Hueneme,
CA.

4.2.27 Parris Island Museum
Marine Corps Recruit Depot East Recruiting Region Parris Island
Box 19001
Parris Island, SC 29905-9001
POC: Steven Wise, Museum Director
843-525-3765
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